
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 9th October, 2019

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, 
access to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt 
as you face the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall.  There is 
dedicated disabled parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings 
are held on the ground floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair 
user or have restricted mobility and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email 
the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make any necessary arrangements to 
assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect 
copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents 
used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot 
of each report. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' 
for which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither 
reports nor background papers are open to public inspection.

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to 
report on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio 
recording and providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used 
to report on the proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 
Accordingly, the attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and 
broadcast. By choosing to attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your 
consent to being filmed or recorded and for any footage to be broadcast or published.  

Please note the Council audio records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings 
are published on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect 
will be posted in the meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting 
of the City Council he/she will be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and 
audio being published live to the Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their 
discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would 
prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider that continued recording might 
infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is 
allowed for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any 
matter on the Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 
p.m. on the last working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing 
the officer mentioned below.

If you have any queries about this Agenda or require any details of background papers, or to 
discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, film, video or sound recording please 
contact Ellen Meachen, Democratic and Electoral Services Assistant, Guildhall, 
Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722006 (direct line); E-Mail Address:  
committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of 
ethnic minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also 
available electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website 
Address: worcester.gov.uk



3

Audit and Governance Committee
Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Members of the Committee:-
Chairman: Councillor Alan Amos (C)

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo)

Councillor Jenny Barnes (LCo)
Councillor Nida Hassan (C)
Councillor Stephen Hodgson (C)

Councillor Neil Laurenson (G)
Councillor Andrew Roberts (C)
Councillor Richard Udall (L)

C = Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-Operative

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTES To receive details of any Member 
nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST To receive any declarations of interest.

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any item on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the 
Committee.

4. SANSOME WALK 
DECOMMISSIONING LESSONS 
LEARNT 
Page(s) 1 - 12
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact 
Officer 

Andy Bromage, Head 
of Internal Audit 
Shared Service
Tel: 01905 722051

That the Committee note the report.

5. ANY OTHER BUSINESS Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.



4

PART II
(ITEM FOR DISCUSSION IN PRIVATE)

Exempt – not for publication because the item contains information in respect of which a 
claim to a legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.

6. SANSOME WALK 
DECOMMISSIONING LESSONS 
LEARNT 
Page(s) 13 - 18
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact 
Officer 

Sian Stroud, Deputy 
Director - Governance
Tel: 01905 722017

That the Committee notes the contents of 
this report which provides legal advice on 
the implications of the adequacy of the 
services provided to the Council by 
consultants and construction contractors.



Report to: Audit and Governance Committee, 9th October 2019

Report of: Head of Internal Audit Shared Service, Worcestershire Internal Audit 
Shared Service

Subject:   SANSOME WALK DECOMMISSIONING LESSONS LEARNT 

1. Recommendation

1.1 The Committee note the report.

2. Background

2.1 To report on lessons learnt from the decommissioning of Sansome Walk Swimming 
Pool project.

2.2 During the 20th March 2019 meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee a paper 
was presented by the Deputy Director – Governance and Monitoring Officer which, in 
part, requested the internal audit service undertake a lessons learnt review of 
Sansome Walk Swimming Pool decommissioning project.  This request cited a 
number of potential areas for consideration as part of the review. 

3. Governance Issues
3.1 In view of the fact that the Council is expecting to deliver a number of significant 

capital projects in the next period, the work was undertaken as a priority during 
quarter 1 of 2019/20 municipal year.  Areas taken into consideration as part of the 
review included the implications of decommissioning, project budget and 
mechanisms for reviewing, risk management, appointment of specialist providers 
and best practice procurement for construction services. The review approach was an 
over-arching view of the project as a whole, rather than majoring on specific areas.

3.2 There were a number of areas of learning identified e.g. project focus, risk 
management, project scope, housekeeping, business continuity and project 
involvement, which have been acknowledged and are included at Appendix 1.

3.3 The review identified although there had been regular inspections of the building 
during the time it was operational and open to the public these would have not been 
sufficiently detailed to unearth the deep fabric of the building and the real extent of 
the asbestos contamination present.  This became apparent when a more intrusive 
inspection was commissioned. It should be noted that the audit review was process 
focussed and due to the specialist nature of asbestos removal the audit team were 
not in a position to comment on the adequacy of original specifications drawn up in 
regard to the asbestos removal. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



3.4 Reports show that the decision to decommission Sansome Walk was viewed as an 
inevitable consequence of the decision to construct a new facility at Perdiswell, but 
that the decommissioning implications were not fully reported as part of the overall 
swimming pool project or budget. While the failing condition of the site appeared in 
the reports to add weight to the Perdiswell preferred option, the detailed options 
appraisal work and the reports which followed it were principally focused on the 
development opportunities afforded at the Perdiswell site. However, any use, 
refurbishment or disposal decision of the Sansome Walk site would have encountered 
the same issues that the Authority is faced with now; the use of asbestos as a 
building material in the site was well understood within the Council and common for 
buildings of its age.  This is a consideration in itself for future projects of a similar 
nature.

4.  Current Position

4.1 Although there were some clear lessons to be learnt from the Sansome Walk 
decommissioning, through continuous improvement there have been a number of 
improvements implemented to strengthen project management. Key changes have 
included, establishment of a project management team, project gateway 
assessments, establishment of an asset management strategy, a process for seeking 
amendments to project budgets and the establishment of the an in house team to 
directly manage Council assets.  These changes will help to ensure the Authority is in 
a stronger position to continue to achieve successful project outcomes. The report 
findings have been considered by CLT as well as the Leadership Group.

5. Appendices

5.1 Appendix 1 provides the report with the lessons learnt along with management 
comment.

Ward(s): N/A
Contact Officer: Andy Bromage. 
Telephone: 01905 722051  
Email: andy.bromage@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None

Page 2



Worcestershire Internal Audit Shared Service 

Draft Internal Audit Report

Sansome Walk – Lessons Learned Review

13th August 2019

Distribution:

To: David Blake - Managing Director
Andrew Round - Corporate Director - Place
Sian Stroud - Deputy Director - Governance and Monitoring Officer

     Shane Flynn - Director of Finance & Resources and Section 151 Officer
Cc: Kevin Moore - Head of Property and Asset Management

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



Contents

1. Introduction........................................................................................................................................3
2. Audit Scope and objective ....................................................................................................................3
3. Audit Opinion and Executive Summary ...................................................................................................4
4. Lessons Learned .................................................................................................................................4
Independence and Ethics:........................................................................................................................10

P
age 4



1. Introduction

1.1. This review of the project of the decommissioning of the former Sansome Walk swimming pool site was carried out in 
accordance with the Worcestershire Internal Audit Shared Service Audit Plan for Worcester City Council for 2019/20 as 
approved by the Audit and Governance Committee on 20th March 2019. The review was a ‘lessons learned’ exercise of 
the project to date as operated by Worcester City Council which was commissioned by the Audit and Governance 
Committee 20th March 2019 based on a report presented by the Deputy Director Governance and Monitoring Officer 
entitled ‘Decommissioning of Sansome Walk’.

1.2.  The review was carried out by Chris Lawrence on behalf of WIASS in May 2019.

2. Audit Scope and objective

2.1. The aim of the review was to carry out a ‘lessons learned’ review of the project to date, taking into account the 
information available (e.g. consultant and specialist reports, Committee reports, business case, decision making 
process, options) regarding the Council’s previous activities, and the specialist advice currently being commissioned 
from Gleeds and received by the Council on demolition options and costs.

2.2. The review was an over-arching view of the project as a whole, rather than majoring on specific areas.

2.3. The review was carried out with the information available to audit dating back to the decision to decommission the 
Sansome Walk Pool and the subsequent related project work.

P
age 5



3. Audit Opinion and Executive Summary

3.1. As this review was carried out as a lessons learned exercise, no overall assurance level or audit opinion is required to 
be given for this audit.

3.2. From the work carried out audit has identified 7 key areas where lessons can be learned – these are set out in the 
table at section 4 below.

3.3. Since this project there have been a number of improvements implemented to strengthen project management. Key 
changes have included, establishment of a project management team, project gateway assessments, establishment of 
an asset management strategy, a process for seeking amendments to project budgets and the establishment of the an 
in house team to directly manage Council assets. 

4. Lessons Learned

The lessons learned during the review have been set out in the table below along with the related issue and impact. The 
issues identified have been not been prioritised and are presented in no particular order.

Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
1 Project Focus There was too much 

emphasis placed on the new 
facility at Perdiswell which 
resulted in Sansome Walk 
not being considered a 
priority until much later in 
the process. No options 
analysis was presented 
during the initial decision-
making process for 
Perdiswell that related 
specifically to the potential 
decommissioning of 
Sansome Walk.

This resulted in no clear 
ownership (for the Sansome 
Walk project) from an early 
stage, lack of in depth 
consideration regarding 
risks and lack of detail 
regarding options or 
mitigations if related 
projects failed, in addition 
to potentially failing to 
understand the full costs 
involved and requirements. 

Ensure that the Council 
has a facility in place 
(such as a Capital 
Management Group) to 
regularly review project 
progress and fully consider 
the project scope and 
associated risks from an 
internal perspective with a 
view to reporting 
anomalies and concerns 
early, ensuring that all 
options are reported as 
part of the decision 

A project management 
process has been 
introduced which 
requires four stages, with 
gateway assessments at 
each stage – 0. 
Concept/Review; 1 – 
Feasibility; 2- 
Evaluation; 3 – 
Delivery/Implementation. 
Completion of each stage 
needs Director-level 
approval.

P
age 6



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response

Audit found no factual 
evidence at the initial 
decision making stage of 
what the value of the 
Sansome Walk site was 
worth and what could be 
done with the site.

making process and 
providing critical challenge 
where necessary.

As part of its approach to 
improving the 
management of capital 
programmes and 
projects, the Council 
adopted a Capital and 
Asset Management 
Framework in October 
2018. This requires all 
capital project 
submissions to be 
formally approved and 
assessed by a Capital 
Asset Management 
Group, using an 
approved scoring 
mechanism. Each 
submission must include 
an expected return on 
the investment and, 
where applicable, a clear 
project timetable.

2 Risk 
Management

Sansome Walk was not 
appropriately highlighted as 
a project management risk 
by Worcester City Council 
until the implementation of 
the Pentana system, where 
it is represented from a void 
management perspective.

Audit did not find evidence 
of Sansome Walk appearing 
on either corporate or 
service  risk registers in 

With the lack of a detailed 
risk management 
assessment the project was 
not kept under adequate 
review from a Worcester 
City Council perspective and 
decisions may have been ill-
informed.

Equal consideration should 
be given when reporting in 
regard to both the new 
and old sites. Sites should 
be appropriately assessed 
for their proposed 
redevelopment or 
decommissioning prior to 
the commencement of any 
related projects. Any 
surveys or other works 
required should be 
considered and factored 

An Asset Management 
Strategy is being 
compiled and is due for 
completion in the 
autumn of 2019. This will 
assess the condition of 
all Council-owned land 
and buildings and will 
introduce a five-year 
cycle of reviews. Each 
review will result in a 
‘develop or release’ 
decision and identify the 

P
age 7



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
sufficient detail prior to this 
nor was there detailed risk 
reporting placed before 
Members in the Committee 
reports.

into the overall costing.

Asbestos containing 
materials must be 
considered as a potential 
undermining factor to all 
Council Capital Projects – 
this should be reflected in 
the Risk Registers and 
regularly reviewed so 
there is an understanding 
of the assets Worcester 
City Council hold and their 
true worth and potential 
usage.

costs of each option, 
including any demolition 
costs.

Regular asbestos surveys 
were undertaken on this 
site in line with 
regulations. The 
condition of any 
asbestos-containing 
materials in Council 
buildings is reported to 
the Head of Property and 
Asset Management for 
action as required. A 
summary report is 
provided to the 
Corporate leadership 
Team, currently on a 
monthly basis, along with 
fire, gas and water risk 
assessments.

3 Risk Reporting From the information 
available, Audit is of the 
opinion that Worcester City 
Council reports did not 
place enough emphasis on 
the risk element of this 
particular project. 

Risk content reported to 
Committee was minimal and 
there was no 
comprehensive risk 
programme for the 

Associated risks showed 
little change over time as 
the project progressed. 
There was a lack of in depth 
reporting around the risks 
associated with the 
Sansome Walk project at 
Management and 
Committee level and the 
potential impact.

Ensure that any issues 
raised are brought before 
management in a timely 
manner with clear 
reporting - and brought 
before Committee if there 
are any significant impacts 
on budgets.

The current risk 
implications section of 
Committee reports could 
be further developed. In 

Once committee approval 
has been secured for 
demolition works to 
begin a risk register will 
be compiled as part of 
demolition-project 
documentation and 
reported to CLT as part 
of ongoing project 
monitoring.

A risk assessment will be 
included in council and 

P
age 8



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
decommissioning of 
Sansome Walk.

order to be more risk 
aware Worcester City 
Council reports would 
benefit from the inclusion 
of a 'table of risk' and 
associated appendices 
going forward to consider 
risks, potential 
consequences and 
mitigating actions to  
ensure that the relevant 
discussions are taking 
place.

committee reports where 
appropriate.

4 Project Scope 
& Reviewing of 
Cost/Time 
budgets.

The project scope had to be 
altered to allow for several 
additions over the project 
lifecycle e.g. additional 
surveys, consultancy.

Budgets needed to be 
increased and project 
timescales extended due to 
additions to the project 
scope.

As a legal requirement, the 
cost of a Hazardous 
Materials Survey should 
have been factored into the 
original project budgets. 
However it was not and the 
cost had to be added later 
to an already established 
budget.

Extra costs incurred and 
extended project 
timeframe.

Project budgets were 
exceeded due to the 
creeping of the scope and 
the need for additional 
works and surveys to be 
undertaken.

Although a process was 
followed and financial 
regulations adhered to, 
where practically possible 
scope all relevant costs 
and required surveys prior 
to the commencement of 
Capital projects. Obtain 
relevant management sign 
off on the initial scope and 
costing stage. Establish 
and define clearly what 
assumptions have been 
made at the 
commencement of the 
project and what the 
contingency is.  

No ‘intervention’ process 
was available where there 
is significant scope creep 

There is a well-
established process for 
seeking approval to 
amend project budgets 
that is set out in 
Financial regulations.

This process was applied 
appropriately at each 
stage of this project.

A project management 
system has been 
introduced as outlined at 
(1) above. Project 
Boards are established 
for major projects but 
otherwise monitoring is 
undertaken by progress 
groups established within 
each directorate. 

P
age 9



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
to challenge and review 
any decision making 
process.

There needs to be 
identification of and clearly 
defined project 
parameters, including 
when projects are broken 
down into sub-projects 
etc. and how these are all 
to be managed/ co-
ordinated, with 
responsibilities fully 
defined.

5 Housekeeping 
& Business 
Continuity

Files held by the Council 
relating to the Sansome 
Walk project are 
electronically stored in 
various principal folders in 
no particular order or 
identifiable structure 
making it difficult to locate 
and/or piece together in 
order what has occurred.

Key officers involved no 
longer with the Council 
have had their files and 
email accounts deleted.

It is difficult to locate 
specific information relating 
to projects and piece 
together what has occurred 
relating to the project to 
date.

There is also unnecessary 
duplication of potentially 
sensitive documentation.

All relevant information 
that has been used to 
make decisions should be 
stored in a purposeful and 
easily reviewable format.

From a business continuity 
and resilience perspective 
the files should be easy to 
access, and key decisions 
and milestones should be 
identifiable within the 
project.

The Council has 
appropriate storage and 
retention policies which 
enabled all the relevant 
documents to be located. 
However, it is 
acknowledged that a 
more systematic 
approach to records 
management is required.

Office 365 will be 
introduced in 2020 and 
will provide an 
opportunity to develop 
an effective records 
management strategy for 
electronic documents. 
This will be 
supplemented with 

P
age 10



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
revised guidance on hard 
copy backup procedures.

6 Lessons 
Learned

To date there is no evidence 
that lessons learnt have 
been captured throughout 
the project lifecycle to 
ensure all information is 
documented in a timely and 
accurate manner and fed 
back into further projects.

Lessons have not been 
sufficiently captured 
throughout the project 
lifecycle to ensure all 
information is documented 
in a timely and accurate 
manner, and to describe 
what went wrong and 
provide suggestions to 
avoid similar occurrences 
happening on other projects 
in the future.

Ensure that all lessons 
learnt are captured in one 
place and fed into the 
process as part of the 
project cycle. Also as the 
project progresses there is 
an ability to capture and 
document any lessons 
which can be applied to 
other projects and be 
revisited upon completion 
of the project.

Project management is 
operated using the 
Pentana system which 
provides a corporate 
record of progress on 
each project. A final 
‘project review’ stage will 
be built into the project 
management 
methodology.

7 Worcester City 
Council Project 
Decisions 
Involvement

Audit found limited evidence 
of Worcester City’s 
involvement in decisions 
being made at the project 
action level.
Worcester City Council may 
have not been involved 
enough in the day to day 
running of the project - 
particularly as costs began 
to increase and the scope 
was changing.

The Council may be 
unsighted and unaware of 
issues and emerging risks 
within a project until it is 
too late therefore not be in 
a suitable position to act 
appropriately and in a 
timely manner 

Clarity to be established 
from the outset with 
regards to where 
Worcester City Council sit 
within the project 
structure when partnering 
with third parties and 
shared services.

The Council has 
established an in-house 
team to manage the 
Council’s assets and a 
project Management 
Team to set up and 
implement a project 
management system. 
The processes put in 
place by the Project 
Management System, 
Pentana and the Capital 
and Asset management 
Framework should 
ensure close involvement 
in all capital projects, an 
appropriate level of 
review at key stages and 
formal approval for 

P
age 11



Ref. Category Issue Impact Lesson Learnt CLT Response
progress to the next 
stage. These decisions 
will be documented 
through project and 
programme Boards, CLT 
decisions and Committee 
decisions, as required.

5. Independence and Ethics:

 WIASS confirms that in relation to this review there were no significant facts or matters that impacted on our 
independence as Internal Auditors that we are required to report.

 WIASS conforms to the Institute of Internal Auditors Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (revised 1st April 2017) and 
confirms that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion in relation to this review. 

 WIASS confirm that policies and procedures have been implemented in order to meet the IIA Ethical Standards.
 Prior to and at the time of the audit no non-audit or audit related services have been undertaken for the Council within 

this area of review.

Andy Bromage
Head of Internal Audit Shared Services
andy.bromage@worcester.gov.uk 

P
age 12

mailto:andy.bromage@worcester.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 13 Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Sansome Walk Decommissioning Lessons Learnt
	Sansome Walk Decommissioning Lessons Learnt Appendix 1

	6 Sansome Walk Decommissioning Lessons Learnt

